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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FET

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA BY—
SOTTTHRERN DIVIKTON

N«
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

)

)
v. ) DEFERRED PROSECUTION
) AGREEMENT
)
)
)

CAMPBELL SALES GROUP, INC.
d/b/a LeatherltaliaUSA

The defendant, Campbell Sales Group, Inc. d/b/a LeatherltaliaUSA (the
“Company”), and the United States Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of
North Carolina (the “Office”) hereby enter into this Deferred Prosecution Agreement
(the “Agreement”).

Criminal Information and Acceptance of Responsibility

1. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Office will file a
Criminal Information (the “Information”), a copy of which is attached hereto as
Attachment A and incorporated herein by reference, in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of North Carolina charging the Company with two
counts of wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. By
executing the Agreement, the Company knowingly (a) waives any and all rights it
has to have the crime charged in the Information presented to a grand jury and
prosecuted by indictment, as well as all rights to a speedy trial pursuant to the
Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Title 18, United States Code,
Section 3161, and Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(b); (b) waives any and all
objections with respect to venue and applicable statutes of limitations for any
charges by the United States arising out of the conduct described in the Statement
of Facts, a copy of which i1s attached hereto as Attachment B and incorporated
herein by reference; and (c) consents to the filing of the Information, as provided by
the terms of this Agreement, in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of North Carolina. The Office agrees to defer prosecution of the Company
pursuant to the terms and conditions described below.

2. The Company admits, accepts, and acknowledges that (a) it is
responsible under United States law for the acts of its officers, directors, employees,
and agents with respect to the conduct described in the Information and the
Statement of Facts, and (b) the facts described in the Statement of Facts are true
and accurate. Should the Office pursue the prosecution that is deferred by this
Agreement, the Company stipulates to the admissibility of the Statement of Facts
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in any proceeding, including any trial, guilty plea, or sentencing proceeding, and
will not contradict any facts in the Statement of Facts at any such proceeding.

- of the Agr -

3. The Agreement shall be in effect for a period beginning on the date on
which the Information is filed and ending three (3) years from such date (the
“Term”). The Company agrees that, in the event that the Office determines, in its
sole discretion, that the Company has knowingly violated any provision of the
Agreement or has knowingly failed to completely perform or fulfill each of the
Company’s obligations under the Agreement, an extension or extensions of the
Term may be imposed by the Office, in its sole discretion, for up to a total additional
time period of twelve (12) months, without prejudice to the Office’s right to proceed
with the prosecution as provided herein. Any extension of the Agreement extends
all terms of the Agreement. Conversely, in the event the Office finds, in its sole
discretion, that the provisions of the Agreement have been satisfied, the Office may
elect to terminate the Agreement early. If the Court rejects the Agreement, all
provisions of the Agreement shall be deemed null and void, and the Term shall be
deemed not to have begun.

Relevant Considerations

4. The Office enters into this Agreement based on the individual facts
and circumstances presented by this case, including:

(a) the Company did not voluntarily self-disclose the offense
conduct to the Office or to any law enforcement agency, and as a
result, the Company was not eligible for a more significant
discount on the fine amount or the form of resolution;

(b)  the seriousness of the offense conduct;

(¢ the Company received credit, in addition to the two-point
downward adjustment to the Sentencing Guidelines, in the form
of a reduction from the bottom of the Sentencing Guidelines fine
range, for its cooperation with the Office’s investigation;

(d) the Company has no prior criminal history; and

(e) the Company has committed to continuing to cooperate with the
Office as described below.
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M~~+nuing Coopera’’

5. The Company shall cooperate fully with the Office in any and all
matters relating to the conduct described in this Agreement and the Statement of
Facts, or any individual or entity referred to therein, as well as any other conduct
that may violate federal criminal law, subject to applicable law and regulations,
until the later of the date upon which all investigations and prosecutions arising
out of such conduct are concluded, or the end of the Term. At the request of the
Office, the Company shall also cooperate fully with other domestic or foreign law
enforcement and regulatory authorities and agencies, in any investigation of the
Company or any of its present or former officers, directors, employees, agents and
consultants, or any other party, in any and all matters relating to the conduct
described in the Agreement and the Statement of Facts. The Company agrees that
its cooperation pursuant to this paragraph shall include, but not be limited to, the
following:

(a)  cooperate fully with the Office and any other federal law
enforcement agency designated by the Office regarding all
matters related to the Office’s investigation;

(b)  retain all records relating to the Office’s investigation for a
period of ten (10) years from the end of the Term.

(c) assist the Office or any designated federal law enforcement
agency in any investigation, prosecution, or civil proceeding
arising out of or related to the Office’s investigation by providing
logistical and technical support for any meeting, interview,
grand jury proceeding, or any trial or other court proceeding;

(d) use its best efforts to promptly secure the attendance and
truthful statements or testimony of any current or former
officer, director, employee, agent, or consultant of the Company
at any meeting or interview or before any grand jury or at any
trial or other court proceeding regarding matters arising out of
or related to the Office’s investigation;

(e) provide testimony of a competent witness as needed to enable
the Office and any designated federal law enforcement agency to
use the information and evidence obtair 1| pursuant to the
Company’s cooperation with the Office before a grand jury or at
any trial or other court proceeding regarding matters arising out
of or related to the Office’s investigation;

® provide the Office, upon request, consistent with applicable law
and regulations, all information, documents, records, or other
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tangible evidence not protected by a valid claim of privilege or
work product regarding matters arising out of or related o the
Office’s investigation about which the Office or any designated
federal law enforcement agency inquires.

6. Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Company to waive any
protections of the attorney-client privilege, attorney work product doctrine, or any
other applicable privilege unless the Company voluntarily chooses to waive any
such privilege. Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Company to violate the
law of any jurisdiction in which it operates.

D~-me-* of Monetary Pen~'"2~ -~ Restitution

7. The Company agrees to pay a Criminal Fine in the amount of
$1,000,000 to the United States Treasury. The Company further agrees to pay
Restitution to the United States Small Business Administration in the amount of
$499,164.50. The Company agrees to pay the combined Criminal Fine and
Restitution amount of $1,499,164.50 (“Total Monetary Penalty”) not later than ten
(10) business days after approval of this Agreement by the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of North Carolina.

8. The Total Monetary Penalty is final and shall not be refunded.
Furthermore, nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed an agreement by the
Office that the Total Monetary Penalty is the maximum penalty that may be
imposed in any future prosecution, and the Office is not precluded from arguing in
any future prosecution that the Court should impose a higher fine, although the
Office agrees that under those circumstances, it will recommend to the Court that
any amount paid under this Agreement should be offset against any fine the Court
imposes as part of a future judgment.

9. The Company agrees that it will not file a claim or a petition for
remission, restoration, or any other assertion of ownership of request for return
relating to the payment of the Total Monetary Penalty, or an action or motion
seeking to collaterally attack the seizure, restraint, forfeiture, or conveyance of the
Total Monetary Penalty, nor shall it assist any others in filing any such claims,
petitions, actions, or motions.

10. The Company shall not seek or accept, directly or indirectly,
reimbursement or ind: "™ ation from any source with regard to the penalty or
disgorgement amounts that the Company pays pursuant to this Agreement or any
other agreement concerning the conduct set forth in the Statement of Facts.

11. The Company acknowledges that no tax deduction or other offset may
be sought in connection with the payment of any part of the Total Monetary
Penalty.
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12.  Subject to Paragraphs 15 through 19 below, the Office agrees, except
as provided in this Agreement, that it will not bring any criminal or civil case
against the Company relating to any of the conduct described in either the
Statement of Facts or the Information filed pursuant to this Agreement, or for
conduct that the Company disclosed to the Office prior to the signing ¢ this
Agreement. This Agreement does not provide any protection against prosecution for
any future conduct by the Company. In addition, this Agreement does not provide
any protection : iinst prosecution of any individuals, regardless of their affiliation
with the Company. The Office, however, may use any information related to the
conduct described in the Statement of Facts against the Company:

(a) in a prosecution for perjury or obstruction of justice;
(b) in a prosecution for making a false statement; or

(c) in a prosecution or other proceeding relating to any crime of
violence.

Deferred Prosecution

13.  In consideration of the undertakings agreed to by the Company herein,
the Office agrees that any prosecution of the Company for the conduct set forth in
the Statement of Facts, and for the conduct that the Company disclosed to the
Office prior to the signing of this Agreement, be and hereby is deferred for the
Term. To the extent there is conduct disclosed by the Company that the parties
have specifically discussed and agreed is not covered by this Agreement, such
conduct will not be exempt from further prosecution and is not within the scope of or
relevant to this Agreement.

14.  The Office further agrees that if the Company fully complies with all of
its obligations under this Agreement, the Office will not continue the criminal
prosecution against the Company described in Paragraph 1 above and, at the
conclusion of the Term, this Agreement shall expire. Within ninety (90) days of the
Agreement’s expiration, the Office shall seek dismissal with prejudice of the
Information filed against the Company described in Paragraph 1 above and agrees
not to file charges in the future against the C¢ »any based on the conduct
described  this Agre¢ =nt and the Statement of Facts.

Breach of the Agreement

_ 15. If, during the Term, the Company: (a) commits any felony under U.S.
federal law; (b) provides in connection with this Agreement deliberately false,
incomplete or misleading information, including in connection with its disclosure of
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information about individual culpability; (c) fails to cooperate as set forth in
Paragraph 5 of th Agreement; or (e) otherwise fails specifically to perform or to
fulfill completely each of the Company’s obligations under the Agreement,
regardless of whether the Office becomes aware of such a breach after the Term is
complete, the Company shall thereafter be subject to prosecution for any federal
criminal violation of which the Office has knowledge, including, but not limited to,
the charge in the Information described in Paragraph 1 above and charges that
arise from the conduct set forth in the Statement of Facts, which may be pursued by
the Office in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of North
Carolina or any other appropriate venue.

16. Determination of whether the Company has breached the Agreement
and whether to pursue prosecution of the Company shall be in the Office’s sole
discretion. Any such prosecution may be premised on information provided by the
Company or its personnel. Any such prosecution relating to the conduct described
in the Statement of Facts or relating to conduct known to the Office prior to the
date on which this Agreement was signed that is not time-barred by the applicable
statute of limitations on the date of the signing of this Agreement may be
commenced against the Company, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of
limitations, between the signing of this Agreement and the expiration of the Term
plus one year. Thus, by signing this Agreement, the Company agrees that the
statute of limitations with respect to any such prosecution that is not time-barred
on the date of the signing of this Agreement shall be tolled for the Term plus one
year. In addition, the Company agrees that the statute of limitations as to any
violation of federal law that occurs during the Term will be tolled from the date
upon which the violation occurs until the earlier of the date upon which the Office 1s
made aware of the violation or the duration of the Term plus five (5) years, and that
this period shall be excluded from any calculation of time for purposes of the
application of the statute of limitations.

17.  In the event the Office determines that the Company has breached this
Agreement, the Office agrees to provide the Company with written notice prior to
instituting any prosecution resulting from such breach. Within thirty (30) days of
receipt of such notice, the Company shall have the opportunity to respond to the
Office in writing to explain the nature and circumstances of the breach, as well as
the actions the Company has taken to address and remediate the situation, which
the Office shall consider in determining whether to pursue prosecution of the
Company.

In the event that the Office determines that the Company has breached
this Agreement: (a) all statements made by or on behalf of the Company to the
Office or to the Court, including the facts in the Statement of Facts, and any
testimony given by the Company before a grand jury, a court or any tribunal, or at
any legislative hearings, whether prior or subsequent to this Agreement, and any
leads derived from such statements or testimony, shall be admissible in evidence in
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any and all criminal proceedings brought by the Office against the Company; and
(b) the Company shall not assert any claim under the United States Constitution,
Rule 11(f) of the Federal ..ales of Criminal Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal Rules
of Evidence, or any other federal rule that any such statements or testimony made
by or on behalf of the Company prior or subsequent to this Agreement, or any leads
derived therefrom, should be suppressed or are otherwise inadmissible. The
decision whether conduct or statements of any current director, officer or employee,
or any person acting on behalf of, or at the direction of, the Company, will be
imputed to the Company for the purpose of determining whether the Company has
violated any provision of this Agreement shall be in the sole discretion of the Office.

19. The Company acknowledges that the Office has made no
representations, assurances, or promises concerning what sentence may be imposed
by the Court if the Company breaches this Agreement and this matter proceeds to
judgment. The Company further acknowledges that any such sentence is solely
within the discretion of the Court and that nothing in this Agreement binds or
restricts the Court in the exercise of such discretion.

Sale, Merger, or Other Change in Corporate Form of Company

20. Except as may otherwise be agreed by the parties in connection with a
particular transaction, the Company agrees that in the event that, during the Term,
it undertakes any change in corporate form, including if it sells, merges or transfers
business operations that are material to the Company’s operations, or to the
operations of any subsidiaries or affiliates involved in the conduct described in the
Statement of Facts, as they exist as of the date of this Agreement, whether such
sale is structured as a sale, asset sale, ‘rger, transfer or other change in corporate
form, it shall include in any contract for sale, merger, transfer or other change in
corporate form a provision binding the purchaser, or any successor in interest
thereto, to the obligations described in this Agreement. The Company shall obtain
approval from the Office at least thirty (30) days prior to undertaking any such sale,
merger, transfer, or other change in corporate form, including dissolution, in order
to give the Office an opportunity to determine if such change in corporate form
would impact the terms or obligations of the Agreement.

Limitations on Binding Effect of Agreement

21. This Agreement is binding on the Company and the Office but
specifically does not bind any other component of the Department of Justice, other
federal agencies, or any state, local or foreign law enforcement or regulatory
agencies, or any other authorities, although the Office will bring the cooperation of
the Company and its compliance with its other obligations under this Agreement to
the attention of such agencies and authorities if requested to do so by the Company.
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Notice

22. Any notice to the Office under this Agreement shall be given by
personal delivery, overnight delivery by a recognized delivery service, or registered
or certified mail, addressed to Chief, Criminal Division, United States Attorney’s
Office, Eastern District of North Carolina, 150 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2100,
Raleigh, North Carolina 27601. Any notice to the Company under this Agreement
shall be given by personal delivery, overnight delivery by a recognized delivery
service, or registered or certified mail, addressed to Sergio E. Acosta, Akerman LLP,
71 South Wacker Drive, 47th Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60606. Notice shall be effective
upon actual receipt by the Office or the Company.

Complete Agreement

23. This Agreement, including its attachments, sets forth all the terms of
the agreement between the Company and the Office. No amendments,
modifications, or additions to this Agreement shall be valid unless they are in
writing and signed by the Office, the attorney(s) for the Company, and a duly
authorized representative of the Company.

Date

Campbell Sales Group

Date:

CLOUuILseI 10 vdlllppell Odles uroup

d/b/a Leather Italia

On behalf of the United States Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of
North Carnlina T accent thic agreement.

Date: DANIEL P. BUBAR
Actino TTnited States Attarnev

s
Assistant united States Attorney
Criminal Division
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ATTACHMENT °,

CRIMINAL INFORMATION
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UNI” ST/ [S1:uC. COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
SOUTHERN DIVISION

No.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

CRIMINAL INFORMATION

V.

CAMPBELL SALES GROUP, INC.
d/b/a LeatherltaliaUSA

The United States Attorney charges, at all relevant times, the following:
Introdu~*+*~-

1. CAMPBELL SALES GROUP d/b/a LeatherltaliaUSA (“CAMPBELL
SALES”) was a leather furniture supplier headquartered in Leland, North Carolina,
within the Eastern District of North Carolina.

2. The Small Business Administration (“SBA”) was an executive branch
agency of the United States government that provided support to small businesses
and entrepreneurs, including loans through banks, credit unions, and other lenders.

3. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (‘CARES Act”)
was a federal law enacted on March 27, 2020, designed to provide emergency
financial assistance to the millions of Americans who were suffering the economic
effects caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, which was declared a nationwide
disaster by the President on March 13, 2020. One source of relief provided by the

CARES Act was the authorization of forgivable loans to small businesses for job
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retention and certain other expenses t” >ugh a new SBA program referred to as the
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”).

4. In order to obtain a PPP loan, a qualifying business was required to
submit a PPP application. The PPP application required the business (through
its authorized representative) to acknowledge the program rules and make
certain affirmative certifications in order to be eligible to obtain the PPP. In the
PPP application, the applicant (through its authorized representative) was
required to state, among other things: (a) its average monthly payroll expenses;
and (b) its number of employees. These figures were used to calculate the
amount of money the small business was eligible to receive under the PPP
program.

5. The applicant was required to certify that they were in operation as
of February 15, 2020. The applicant was also required to certify that “[cJurrent
economic uncertainty makes this loan request necessary to support the ongoing
operations of the Applicant,” and that “[t]he funds will be used to retain workers
and maintain payroll or make mortgage interest payment, lease payments, and
utility payments; I understand that if the funds are used for unauthorized
purposes, the federal government may pursue criminal fraud charges.” The
applicant was also required to certify that the information in the application was
true and correct.

6. A business’s PPP application was received and processed, in the first

instance, by a participating lender. If a PPP application was approved, the
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participating lender funded the loan using its own monies, which was guaranteed
by the SBA. Data from the application, including information aboi the
borrower, the total amount of the loan, the listed number of employees, and the
gross income amount, was transmitted by the lender to the SBA in the course of
processing the loan.

7. A PPP borrower could repay the loan or choose to seek forgiveness of
the loan from the SBA by making certain representations and certifications. In
order to obtain forgiveness of a PPP loan, the borrower was required to submit a
PPP Loan Forgiveness Application (SBA Form 3508). In the forgiveness
application, the borrower was required to certify the amount of the PPP loan
proceeds that the borrower used for payroll and other authorized business
expenses during the covered period after the loan was made. In order to obtain
forgiveness of the entire PPP loan, the borrower was required to spend, and
attest to spending, at least 60 percent of the loan proceeds on eligible payroll
costs during the covered period. The forgiveness application required the
borrower to certify, among other things, that all information provided in the
application and supporting documents and forms was true and correct. The
borrower was also required to confirm that they understood that providing a false
statement to obtain forgiveness of an SBA-guaranteed loan was a federal crime,

punishable by fine, imprisonn 1t, or both.
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8. Paragraphs 1 through 7 are realleged and incorporated herein as
though fully set forth in this charge.

9. Beginning no later than April 2020 and continuing through at least
March 2022, both dates being approximate and inclusive, in the Eastern District of
North Carolina and elsewhere, the defendant,

CAMPBELL SALES GROUP d/b/a LeatherltaliaUSA,
devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain
money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises.

Manner and Means

10. It was part of the scheme and artifice that CAMPBELL SALES, at all
times acting by and through its authorized representatives, electronically submitted
a PPP loan application to First Home Bank on or about April 3, 2020. In the
application, CAMPBELL SALES certified that the loan funds would be used to,
among other things, “retain workers and maintain payroll.” CAMPBELL SALES
affirmed that it would be required to provide to the lender “documentation verifying

the number of full-time employees on payroll” and payroll costs. On or about April

27, 2020, PPP loan proceeds totaling ¢~ 57,700 were disbursed to C*"IPBF™~

11. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that, in

order to qualify for complete forgiveness of the PPP loan based on the SBA’s
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eligibility criteria, C*"TPBELL SALES added fake employees to the company’s
payroll during the covered period to create the illusion of higher payroll costs than
what the company was actually incurring at the time. CAMPBELL SALES also
fraudulently manipulated the wages of actual employees for the same purpose.

12. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that on or
about October 30, 2020, CAMPBELL SALES electronically submitted a PPP Loan
Forgiveness Application (SBA Form 3508) to First Home Bank in which it
reported its artificially inflated payroll costs during the covered period.

13. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that on or
about January 5, 2021, CAMPBELL SALES emailed false and fraudulent payroll
documentation to First Home Bank to support the company’s loan forgiveness
application, including a spreadsheet listing the “ghost” employees and their
purported wage amounts. The full loan amount was subsequently forgiven by the
SBA in May 2021.

14. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that on or
about March 19, 2021, CAlvw. BELL SALES applied to First Community Bank for
an additional PPP loan and, in so doing, presented the same false 2020 wage
information used to obtain forgiveness of the company’s first PPP loan. On or about
March 22, 2021, PPP loan proceeds totaling $213,006 were ' bursed to
CAMPBELL SALES. The full loan amount was subsequently forgiven by the SBA

in March 2022.
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15.  On or about each of the dates set forth below, in the ..astern District of
North Carolina and elsewhere, the defendant, CAMPBELL S/ ™ %S GROUP d/b/a
LeatherltaliaUSA, for the purpose of executing the scheme described above, and
attempting to do so, caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in
interstate commerce, the writings, signals, signs, pictures, and sounds described

below for each count:

COUNT DATE WIRE

1 October 30, 2020 | PPP Loan Forgiveness Application submitted
by the defendant within the Eastern District
of North Carolina to First Home Bank, located
outside ~f Nlarth Carolina
2 ivarch 19, 2021 | PPP Appuication (Second Draw) submitted by
the defendant within the Eastern District of
North Carolina to First Community Bank,
located outside of North Carolina

Each entry in the foregoing table constituting a separate violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1343.

FORFEITURE NOTICE

Notice 1s hereby given that all right, title, and interest in the property
specified herein is subject to forfeiture.

Upon conviction of any violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1343, tt ¢« + 1: ; shall for t to the ed ates, pur: ;to 18 U C. §
982(a)(3), any property, real or personal, which represents or is traceable to the

gross receipts obtained, directly or indirectly, as a result of such violation.
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a) A sum of money representing the gross proceeds of the offenses charged

herein against the defendant in the amount of at least $470,706.

If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendant, cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; has
been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; has been placed beyond
the jurisdiction of the court; has been substantially diminished in value; or has been
commingled with other property which cannot be subdivided without difficulty; it is
the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section
853(p), to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the value of

the above forfeitable property.

DANIEL P. BUBAR
Actino TTnited Statec Attornay

A
Assistant United States Attorney
Crlmlna] Nivricinan

Date:
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FILED IN OPEN COURT

oA Can_2Y |
ATTACHMENT B L Petor A. Moore, .Jr.. S
: : e US DistrictCourt.
STATEMENT OF. F ACTS'- IR Eastom Distric’ 1/ .3

The following Statement of Facts is iﬁcoxpdli'aféd fl»')»y»rAefezx-'e’nce: as bart.pf the
Deferred Pros_ecution Agreeni‘ent (the ‘ngre:(;nﬁenﬁ;’) Beﬁzvéen the United States
Attorney’s Ofﬁce for the Eastern Distﬁct of North Carolina (the “United States”)
and the defendant, Campbell Sales Group, Inc. d/b/a LeatherItaliaUSA (“Campbell
Sales”). | Certain of the facts herein are based on information obtained by the United
States from third parties, through its investigation, and described to Campbell
Sales. Campbell Sales admits, accepts, and acknowlédges that it is responsible for
the acts of its officers, directoré, employees, and agents as _set forfh beiow. Should
the United States pursue the prosecutic;n that is defer-red by this Agreémént,
Campbell Sales agrees that it neither cor;ﬁest:fhe édmissibility of, nor contradict,
the fac;cs.in vthis Statement of Facts in any such proc‘:eeding. Thé folldvsiri'ng fapts took
place in or about and between April 2020 and March 2022, unless oth.erwise. ﬁéfed,
and establish beyond a reasonable doubt the charges set forth in the Criminal
 Information attached to the Agreement.

Entities

1. Campbell Sales, doing business as”“LeatherItaliaUSA,” was a leather

furniture supplier headquartered in Leland, North Carolina, within the Eastern

Disti'icf of North Carolina.l

! As applicable, references to Cémpbell Sales herein includes, and is intended
to include, one or more employees and/or representatives acting within the scope of
their agency for the benefit of Campbell Sales.
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2. The Small Business Administration (“SBA”) was an executive branch
agency of the United States government that provided support'to small businesses
- and entrepreneurs, including loans through banks, credit unions, _and other lenders.

Paycheck Protectlon Program

3. The Coronav1rus A1d Rehef and ECOIlOIIllC Secur1ty Act (“CARES Act”)

was a federal law enacted on March 217, 2020 des1gned to prov1de emergency; L

financial assistance to the mdhons of Amerrcans Who_v:vere sufferlng the economic -
effects caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, which Was declared a nationWide
disaster by the President on March-lS,- 2020. One source of relief provided by the
. CARES Act was the authorization of forgivable loans to small businesses for job
retention and certain other expenses through'a new SBA program referred to as the
Paycheck Protection Program “PPP”).

16:__ In order to obtain a PPP loan, a qualifying bus1ness waslreqmred to
::subn:nt a PPP apphcatlon The PPP apphcatlon requ1red the busmess (through
| 1ts authonzed representatwe) to acknowledge the program rules and make
certain afflrmatlve certlﬁcatlons in order to be e11g1b1e to obtaln the PPP. In the
PPP apphcatlon the apphcant (through 1ts authorlzed representative) was
required to state, among other thlngs: (a) its average monthly payroll expenses;
and (b) its riumber of emplosfees. These figures were ueed to calculate the
amount of money the small business_::f\jzvas 'eligible.to receive under the PPP

- program.

2 . .
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17 . The apphcant was requlred to certlfy that they Were 1n operatlon as
";::Of February 15, 2020 The apphcant was also requlred to certlfy that [c]urrent -'“:‘
economlc uncertainty makes thls loan request necessary to support the ongomg

j operatlons of the Apphcant ” and that “[t]he funds w111 be used to retam workers‘ :

and'ma_l_nt_am' payroll or make mortgage interest p_ayment, ile_ase pay.m_ents, and "

utility payments; I understand:'that-if the funds are used for unauthoriie:d»

purposes-:the'federal governm‘enti'ma:y: p'ursue Criminal fraud charges The

apphcant was also requlred to certlfy that the 1nformat10n in the apphcatlon wasz L

true and correct.

18 A bus1ness s PPP apphcatlon was recelved and processed in the ﬁrst 3

1nstance by a part101pat1ng lender If a PPP apphcatlon was approved the, s
partlclpatmg lender funded the loan usmg its own monies, whlch was guaranteed:f‘-
by th:e;:SBA.‘::xData from:’the:ﬁapphcation, including inforrnat_iOIi about v_t_he -

borrowe_r, the total amount of :th:e: loan, the listed number of 'émpiOyéés, .a_nd :t,he. '

gr‘_ossiincomef amount,' was transmitted by thev_le_nde'r to theSBA in the course _:of- R

processing the loan.

i 19;'?{ A PPP borrowerq couldfrepay the loan or 'choose.to seélé fdrgivﬁenéssf of o

-"-:the 1oan from the SBA by maklng certaln representatlons and cert1ﬁcat10ns In

"_.order to obta1n forglveness of a PPP loan the borrower was requlred to submlt a::f-;:

‘PPP Loan Forglveness Apphcatlon (SIA Form 3508) In the forglvenessj_:;:~ g

apphcatlon the borrower was requlred to certlfy the amount of the PPP loan’;f:.i‘ '

'proceeds that. the borrower used for payroll and other authorlzed busmess:
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expenses during the covered period after the loan was}made.. In’ order to obtain 2

. forg1veness of the entire PPP loan the borrower was requ1red to spend and;:j'i

1attest to spendmg, at least 60 percent of the loan proceeds on ehg1ble payroll o

~ costs dur1ng the covered per1od The forglveness appl1cat1on requ1red:thef.:ﬁ:

"borrower to cert1fy among other th1ngs that all 1nformat1on prov1ded in’ the: EE

:f:apphcatlon and supportmg. documents and forms was true and correct The-:;‘
.borrower was also requ1red to conﬁrm that they understood that prov1d1ng a false
statement to obtain forglveness of an SBA-guaranteed loan was a. federal c.r1med':<f-;b
punlsh’able' by ﬁne 1mpr1sonment ;or both. | - e

Scheme to Defraud in Connect1on w1th Flrst PPP Loan Appllcatmn

20 On or about Apr1l 3 2020 Campbell Sales subm1tted a PPP loan’.:"

llapphcat1on to F1rst Home Bank, an. SBA approved lender Repres‘entatwes ﬁ'om~‘»_i

Campbell Sales s1gned the appl1cat1on and in. so domg, cert1f1ed and acknowledged R

the followmg, among other things: |

- & “The [PPP] funds will be used to retain workers and maintain payroll

.-, or make mortgage payments, lease payments, and ut1hty payments; I

. understand that if the funds are used for unauthorized. purposes, the
federal government may pursue criminal fraud charges

e “Documentation verifying the number of full time employees on payroll

“as well as dollar: amounts of payroll costs, covered mortgage interest
~ payments, covered rent payments, and: covered: utilities for the e1ght-
- week period followmg th1s loan will be prov1ded to the lender ‘

s “Loan forgiveness w1ll be prov1ded for the sum of documented payroll
. costs, covered mortgage interest payments covered rent payments '
and covered ut1l1t1es ' : : : :

4
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21.:  On or about April!Z7 , 2020, PPP loanA i)rocééds totaling $257,700 W:e?e
. -di-siburséd and deposited inté'idaiﬁpbe:ll Sales’s operatihg acéoqnt. Immediately
thereafter, Campbell: Sales tédk steps to fraudulently increase its payfoll ‘in
jariticipati-on of attempting to meet the SBA’s eligibility‘ requirements to qualify for
PPP loan forgiveness. Specifically, beginning WithAthe May‘8, 2020 pay period,:a‘nd .
continuing through the June 19, 2020 pay period, Campbell Sales added multiple
- individuals to the payroll and made purported wage payments to them. None of
these individuals Worked for ;Qémpbeﬂ Sales during this time period, however, anrd‘

the individuals did not retain the “ghost wages” paid to them.

The “ghost wages” representéd sit‘signifiqa:rliv: “
portion of the company’s net p ayroll for the pay periods at iSSQe. |

22. In addition to the payment of “ghoét wages,” .Campb'el'l S?Llles'(:
artificiélly inflated its payrollzduring the covered perioci by increasing the biweekly
wagesbf multiple actual employees. For example, one employee’s biwéekly \;vages
were incfeased by $1,600. To offset the additional wages for this Aemployee,
Campbell Sales incorporated a.bogus deduction, characterized as a loan repayment,
into the employee’s wage computation. Another employee’s biweekly wages were
increased- by $1,730. After the wages Weré paid to the employee, the additional
wage amounts were returned to Campbell Sales.

23.  On or about, OctObe_r 30, 2020, Campbell Sales submitted a i’PP Loan
Forgiveness Application (SBA Form 3508) to First Home Bank. To support its

request for complete forgiveness of the PPP loan, Campbell Sales provided a total

5
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payroll cost figure that included the false “ghost wages” paid to non-employees
and the fraudulently inflated wages paid to employees, as described above. As
part of the application,: Campbell Sales certified, among other things,that the E
information in the} application and all supporting documents vvas true and correct »
in. all material respects. Campbell Sales-also certiﬁed its understan'ding;that'
“making a false statement to' obtain forgiveness of an S.BA-guaranteed loan-”-_i:s
punishable under _federal law by imprisonment, ﬁne‘s,-o:r both. |
24 On :or: ia-bout December 29, 2020, a First Home Bank representative
:emailed.(:}a«mp-bell Sales with a request for- additional record_s and information
related to: the . ‘éompany’s forgiveness- ~application, :including .payroll
documentation On or about January 5 2021, Campbell Sales emalled its
: response to Flrst Home Bank Among other thlngs Campbell Sales stated that,': |
“the covered perlod for the PPP loan was May 3, 2020 to June 27, 2020” and, in
turn, recited the ’s_a__me,‘false and fraudn'lent:'payroll total that appeared in the 4
forgiveness :a:p-pli.cation. Campbell Sale_s-i:aiso attached ’an:;Exceli spr_eadsheet'i :
titled “PPP Payroll Analysis”. The anql’;s;s;ipdudga a list of Campbell Sale&'s
purported employees 'during the covered period which inélnded individuals who
did not, in fact Work for the company. The analys1s also reported the total wages
allegedly pa1d to each listed person during the covered period, Wthh 1ncluded the
“ghost wages” for the non-employees and the manlpnlated wages for actual

emplofyees, as described above.
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. 25. On or about Apr1l 26 2021 a F1rst Home Bank representatwei‘i?j':"

4ema1led Campbell Sales and asked for “clar1f1cat10n of the # of employees at the::l'
t1me of the PPP apphcat1on Campbell Sales falsely rephed that “dur1ng the . -.,:i*:
PPP measurement perlod of May 3 2020 to June 27, 2020 ‘we had 15 employees
a :::-‘The Company d1d furlough some employees dur1ng the State mandated Cov1d::-: '

‘ _shutdown in March/Apr1l 2020 but brought all but 2 back, and the 2 that d1d not' -

, "return were because ,the employee de01ded not to return, not the Companys

o decision.:”:'ln truth, according to the investigation; _,Campbell'Sales had 11 actual

“:f'employees dur1ng the covered (after excludlng the non- employees pald ‘ghost - -
. wages”), and the company terminated e1ght employees in March/Apr1l 2020 and t
brought back only one. .
26. The full balance of Campbellv: Sales’s PPP loan was- ultimatelyt |
forgiven by the SBA in May 2021." T | | |

Scheme to Defraud in Connectlon w1th Second PPP Loan Appllcatlon

217. On or, about March 19 2021 Campbell Sales apphed to F1rst
,-Commumty Bank for an. addltlonal PPP loan in the amount of $2 13 006 Campbell |
Sales cert1ﬁed among other th1ngs that the 1nformat10n in the appl1cat1on and_

'__,all support1ng documents was true and correct in, all mater1al respects Campbell
) ;f;Sales also cert1ﬁed its- understandmg that mak1ng a false statement to obtain
' forglveness;of an .SBAj-guaranteed loan- :.1zs_p'un.1shable under federal law by. -
impr'isonment,}-zf."lnes,» orboth. On or aboutMarch 2__2,:>2‘02l, PPP loan proceeds

tOtallng $213,006 were disbursed tothe company.’
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' 28 - To support the loan amount requested in the second PPP appl1cat1on

: Campbell Sales reported average monthly payroll for the 2020 calendar year The';:

payroll f1gure prov1ded to the lender 1ncorporated the same false 2020 wage::i:z:"‘- 2

1nformat1on that Campbell Sales used to obtaln_forglveness of the ﬁr_st PPP loan_,: a8

descr1bed above.

: 29. On or: about March 14, 2022, Campbell Sales submitted a PPP Loan RN

Forgiveness Appllcatmn (SBA Form 3508) The full balance of Campbell Sales S

second PPP loan was subsequently forglven by the SBA in March 2022 '

.8 :
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